FILED

Apr 14, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT NO. 93034-1

COURT OF APPEALS (DIV. III) NO. 32769-8-III

WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL, a public entity, RESPONDENT,

vs.

TAMARA MARIE CORTER, a married individual, STEVE GROSECLOSE, an individual, APPELLANTS

and

DOUGLAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation, RESPONDENT.

PETITIONER/APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

VAN SICLEN, STOCKS, & FIRKINS
Jeffrey R. Caffee, WSBA #41774
Stephanie L. Beach, WSBA #47017
Attorneys for Appellants
721 45th St NE
Auburn, WA 98002-1381
(253) 859-8899 e-mail: jcaffee@vansiclen.com;
sbeach@vansiclen.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Tamara Corter and Steven Groseclose.

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the decision from the Court of Appeals, Division III, in *Washington Counties Risk Pool v. Corter, et al*, No. 32769-8-III (March 15, 2016).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 3.1 Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion is contrary to decisions by the Washington Supreme Court.
- 3.2 Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion is contrary to federal law.
- 3.3 Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion is contrary to public policy by defeating the purpose of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of the Underlying Case.

The underlying case involves Detective Steven Groseclose's improper use of his position as a detective with the Douglas County Sheriff's Office to access police reports regarding his ex-wife Tamara Corter containing sensitive, private health information. CP 13-16, 26-27. Within a few months of accessing this report and learning Corter's private health information, Groseclose used this privileged information to file a petition for

sole guardianship of their child. CP 15. Thereafter, Corter filed a § 1983¹ claim against Groseclose and Douglas County for violation of her privacy rights.

B. Douglas County Paid Expenses for the Defense of Groseclose.

After Corter filed her § 1983 complaint, Douglas County sent a copy of the complaint and summons to its liability insurance carrier, the Washington Counties Risk Pool (WCRP). RP 5. The WCRP then authorized the payment of expenses for Groseclose's defense, subject to a reservation of rights. CP 341, 376. The WCRP appointed an attorney to defend Groseclose against Corter's claims. CP 341, 376. The appointed attorney defended Groseclose throughout the entire action. CP 376. In addition to its regular insurance premiums, Douglas County spent \$25,000, the policy's deductible limit, on the underlying litigation. RP 24. Nothing in the record indicates that Douglas County ever specified that the funds were to be used only for the claims against the County, or that they were so used.

C. Dismissal of Douglas County from the Underlying Case.

On September 20, 2013, the court in the underlying case granted Douglas County's motion for summary judgment stating:

The second § 1983 prong is whether the unconstitutional conduct was committed by a person acting under color of state law. There is no dispute that the County, as a municipality, is a person under § 1983 and may be liable for

¹ 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

a constitutional violation. See Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. of City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 690 (1978). However, it is disputed whether the County "acted" under color of state law. A municipality cannot be liable based on respondent superior; instead to prove a municipality "acted" under color of state law, a plaintiff must show that a "policy or custom" of the municipality caused the injury. Id. at 689-91.

CP 368.

While the court in the underlying case found Douglas County had not instituted a policy or custom that caused injury to Corter, and thus did not act under color of state law, the court made no finding as to whether Groseclose was acting under color of law. CP 361-72. That was left to the jury. Additionally, the court stated that the application of respondent superior was irrelevant, and declined to address it. CP 368.

D. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at Trial.

On October 30, 2013, the jury returned a verdict finding Groseclose did "act under color of law when he accessed the March 30, 2009 law enforcement incident report via Spillman." CP 41, 322.

On October 30, 2013, a judgment was entered under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 against Groseclose in the amount of \$60,000.00 dollars. CP 324. On February 18, 2014, a second judgment was entered under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 against Groseclose in the amount of \$61,025.50 for attorney's fees and costs related to the underlying claim by Corter. CP 326.

E. The Current Action.

On February 20, 2014, counsel for Corter sent a letter to Douglas County requesting payment on the judgments entered against Groseclose. CP 328. In response, WCRP filed a complaint in Douglas County Superior Court, requesting a declaratory judgment that it was not liable for Groseclose's judgment, under the terms of its policy. CP 1-52. Groseclose and Corter (collectively "Petitioners") answered and filed a cross-claim against Douglas County. CP 58-70. Douglas County answered both complaints, and filed its own cross-claim for declaratory relief against Petitioners. CP 53-57. All parties filed for summary judgment on their claims. CP 75-88, 188-98, 282-307.

The trial court consolidated the parties' motions, and conducted a hearing on all motions on August 7, 2014. RP 1. In its oral ruling, the trial court stated that it did not believe that Groseclose was acting within the scope of his employment or official duties. RP 27. The trial court further found that Groseclose had not exhausted all administrative remedies before seeking payment from WCRP. RP 27. Accordingly, the trial court found that neither WCRP nor Douglas County had a duty to indemnify Groseclose, and granted both WCRP's and Douglas County's motions for summary judgment. CP 380-83.

Appellants appealed to Division III of the Court of Appeals. CP

386-91. On March 15, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued a decision upholding the trial court. The Court held that there was insufficient evidence to show that Douglas County waived its right to deny indemnification, and that, as a matter of law, Groseclose was not acting within the scope of his official duties. On the first issue, the Court held that the Douglas County Commissioners needed to approve representation of Groseclose's representation before it would be obligated to indemnify him – even when Douglas County paid for the representation anyway. On the second issue, the Court, following California law, held that Groseclose could only be indemnified if he had acted within the scope of his employment, and that he had not in the underlying matter.

A copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Petitioner now seeks review in this Court.

V. ARGUMENT

This case is important because of its wide applicability to municipalities across the State of Washington. By permitting the Court of Appeals' decision to stand, this Court creates the situation whereby plaintiffs can only obtain redress for violations of their constitutional rights if the individual defendant who violated their rights happens to have deep

pockets.² Surely this is not what Congress intended when it allowed for the vindication of constitutional rights, nor what the state legislature intended by creating the indemnification statute.

The need to review this case is found in RAP 13.4(b), considerations 1 and 4. First, the decision of Division Three is contrary to prior decisions of this Court and federal courts. Second, this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals erred by holding that a government entity can never waive the ability to refuse indemnification and by equating "scope of official duties" with "scope of employment."

A. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to state and federal law.

This case centers on a question that courts across the nation have been grappling with for decades: What exactly does "color of law" mean?

The United States Constitution, through the Bill of Rights, grants to all citizens, residents, and visitors, certain rights and privileges that this country deems fundamental. Among these are the right to freedom of speech, the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures, the right to due process of law, and the right to privacy. In order to protect these rights, Congress provided individuals with a means to hold the

² Which, since § 1983 defendants are necessarily government employees, is unlikely to be the case.

government responsible for violations of constitutional rights. The resulting statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, states:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law...

With the advent of the civil rights movement in the 1960's came the revitalization of § 1983, transforming it from a relatively obscure statute to one frequently invoked in courts across the country. Michael LeBoff, A Need for Uniformity: Survivorship Under 42 U.S.C. S 1983, 32 Loy. L.A. L. Rev. 221, 222 (1998). Not long after this revitalization, many states enacted or modified their government employee indemnification statutes to account for the new threat of § 1983 suits. Washington passed its new employee indemnification statute, RCW 4.96.041, in 1979.

RCW 4.96.041 does not use the specific term "under color of state law", as this statute applies to more than just civil rights suits. Instead, the statute uses the phrase "scope of official duties." Prior to the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case, no court in Washington had ever interpreted this phrase.

The Court of Appeals in this case determined that "scope of official duties" was simply another way of saying "scope of employment." As a basis for its conclusion, the Court relied on the *McDade v. West* cases, where a state employee was found to have acted under color of law but was not entitled to reimbursement under California's indemnification statute. The Court's decision is contrary to the principles of statutory interpretation articulated in *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015).

In Davis, the defendants asserted that Washington's anti-SLAPP statute⁴ did not violate the right to a jury trial, invoking California opinions upholding the constitutionality of a similar statute. 183 Wn.2d at 283. In fact, multiple federal district courts had upheld the statute's constitutionality using those same California cases. Id. at 285. This Court, however, pointed out the deep flaw in the defendants' reasoning: while the statutes may have been similar, they were not identical. Id. at 284. This Court held that the anti-SLAPP statute could only be interpreted with the assumption that "[w]here our legislature borrows a statute from another source but makes certain deviations from that source, 'we are bound to conclude' the legislature's deviation 'was purposeful and evidenced its intent' to differ from the original source on the particular

³ 223 F.3d 1135 (9th Cir. 2000) and 60 Fed. Appx. 146 (9th Cir. 2003).

⁴ RCW 4.24.525.

issue." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Jackson*, 137 Wn.2d 712, 723, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999)). This Court ultimately rejected California law altogether and struck down the statute as unconstitutional.

The Court of Appeals in this case used the same flawed reasoning as the defendants in *Davis*. California's indemnification statute, though similar to RCW 4.96.041, does not actually use the phrase "scope of official duties." Instead, the statute provides for indemnification of employees acting "within the scope of his or her employment." Cal. Gov't Code § 825(a). The Court of Appeals viewed this difference as irrelevant. In light of *Davis*, that is not a supportable position.

The Court of Appeals took its decision one step further, holding that because Groseclose was found liable under § 1983, he necessarily was not acting within the scope of his employment. To support its position, the Court of Appeals pointed to the portion of *Hardesty v. Stenchever*, 82 Wn. App. 253, 262, 917 P.2d 577 (1996), that states, "Jones sued for age and race discrimination under state tort law and under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, personal acts which, if committed, would be outside the scope of the employees' employment." Aside from being dicta, this statement is contrary to law. *Hardesty*'s dicta is nothing more than an inaccurate oversimplification of the law.

A determination that a defendant is liable for constitutional violations under § 1983 does not automatically lead to the conclusion that the defendant was acting outside the scope of their employment. Rather, it is well accepted in federal law that a government employee can violate a citizen's constitutional rights while acting in the scope of employment. See e.g. Javier v. City of Milwaukee, 670 F.3d 823, 830 (7th Cir. 2012). This is also well accepted in Washington. Morinaga v. Vue, 85 Wn. App. 822, 833, 935 P.2d 637 (1997).

The Court of Appeals decision is also contrary to federal law, given the Court's determination that the dismissal of the County as a defendant was indicative of Groseclose acting outside the scope of employment. A municipality can only be liable under § 1983 for its own conduct, not the conduct of its employees. *Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. Of City of N.Y.*, 436 U.S. 658, 690, 98 S. Ct. 2018, 56 L. Ed. 2d 611 (1978). Scope of employment and scope of official duties were wholly irrelevant to the question of the County's § 1983 liability. Consideration of the summary judgment proceedings is contrary to *Monell*, and should not have occurred in this case.

This all brings the Court back to the original question: What does "color of law" mean? More specifically, in this case: What does a factual finding that an employee acted under "color of law" entail? The Court of

Appeals answered this question by using reasoning that contravenes both state and federal law. This Court should accept review to correct that error.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision is Contrary to Public Policy as it Defeats the Purpose of § 1983.

Not only is the Court of Appeals' decision contrary to law, it is also contrary to public policy, as it defeats the purposes of § 1983. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 was originally enacted in 1871 to safeguard the constitutional rights of former slaves and to provide redress when those rights were violated by highly prejudiced government officials in the former Confederacy. *Allen v. McCurry*, 449 U.S. 90, 98, 101 S. Ct. 411, 66 L. Ed. 2d 308 (1980) ("The main goal of the Act was to override the corrupting influence of the Ku Klux Klan and its sympathizers on the governments and law enforcement agencies of the Southern States..."). However, the statute was written not just to protect former slaves against racial discrimination, but to uphold the entire Bill of Rights for all citizens.

Section 1983 was broadly designed not only in the rights that it protected, but also in the remedies it made available. *Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co.*, 457 U.S. 922, 934, 102 S. Ct. 2744, 73 L. Ed. 2d 482 (1982). Under § 1983, plaintiffs may assert claims for damages, injunctive relief, declaratory relief, or any combination thereof. Of these remedies, perhaps

the most important is damages. "When government officials abuse their offices, 'action[s] for damages may offer the only realistic avenue for vindication of constitutional guarantees." Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 638, 107 S. Ct. 3034, 97 L. Ed. 2d 523 (1987) (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 814, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982)). This is particularly the case for individuals subjected to one-time occurrences, such as the plaintiff in Bivens v. Six Unknown Fed. Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388, 91 S. Ct. 1999, 29 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1971), or Ms. Corter here.

Providing a remedy for persons whose rights are violated is not the only purpose of § 1983. The statute is additionally designed to "deter state actors from using the badge of their authority to deprive individuals of their federally guaranteed rights." Wyatt v. Cole, 504 U.S. 158, 161, 112 S. Ct. 1827, 118 L. Ed. 2d 504 (1992). This deterrence goal is not simply to prevent the most egregious of violations, but serves to caution employees "to err on the side of protecting citizens' constitutional rights." Owen v. City of Indep., Mo., 455 U.S. 622, 652, 100 S. Ct. 1398, 63 L. Ed. 2d 673 (1980). "Furthermore, the threat that damages might be levied against the city may encourage those in a policymaking position to institute internal rules and programs designed to minimize the likelihood of unintentional infringements on constitutional rights." Id.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case defeats both of those purposes. Nowhere has this been more clearly articulated than in *Lankford* v. *Geston*, 364 F.2d 197 (4th Cir. 1966). In that case, Judge Simon Sobeloff examined what little an award of damages would do for a plaintiff whose home was wrongfully searched:

There can be little doubt that actions for money damages would not suffice to repair the injury suffered by the victims of the police searches. Neither the personal assets of policemen nor the nominal bonds they furnish afford genunine [sic] hope of redress. ... Indeed, the Supreme Court itself has already declared that the prospect of pecuniary redress for the harm suffered is 'worthless and futile.' Moreover, the lesson of experience is that the remote possibility [sic] of money damages serves as no deterrent to future police invasions.

Lankford, 364 F.2d at 202 (citations omitted). Police officers are not typically wealthy individuals. The only hope most plaintiffs have of seeing their rights vindicated is the government's indemnification policy.

However, Division Three of the Court of Appeals has essentially eliminated all insurance coverage for § 1983 suits. Under the decision in this case, the government will only need to indemnify, and thus be financially responsible to the injured individual, if the subject employee was acting in good faith. By their very nature, § 1983 claims do not involve a state employee acting in good faith. In fact, government employees who act in good faith are generally immune from § 1983

claims. Wood v. Strickland, 420 U.S. 308, 319, 95 S. Ct. 992, 43 L. Ed. 2d 214 (1975). Thus, under the Court of Appeals' reasoning, municipalities would never be obligated to provide restitution to the citizens whose constitutional rights are violated.

The Court's decision is ultimately more harmful than helpful to municipalities like Douglas County. Even with the protection of qualified immunity, "permitting damages suits against government officials can entail substantial social costs, including the risk that fear of personal monetary liability and harassing litigation will unduly inhibit officials in the discharge of their duties." *Anderson v. Creighton*, 483 U.S. 635, 638, 107 S. Ct. 3034, 97 L. Ed. 2d 523 (1987). As one author observed,

[M]ore harm may be done to state and local governments through the exclusive liability of individual officers than by shifting the burden of large recoveries to the entities themselves; as Justice Powell reminded us in *Wood*, such a rule might severely hinder the ability of government to attract and retain talented officers and employees.

Mark G. Yudof, Liability for Constitutional Torts and the Risk-Averse Public School Official, 49 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1322, 1362 (1976).

Our legislature had this very concern in mind when passing RCW 4.96.041. At the Local Government Committee Hearing, one of the representatives stated that without this law, "if a public official is sued personally, and if you can make a suit stick, it could cause a great deal of

harm to that individual." Local Government Committee April 9, 1979, House of Representative Committee Meeting Recordings, 1973-2002, Washington State Archives, Digital Archives, http://digitalarchives.wa.gov, (last accessed April 11, 2016). The representative noted that this concern had already come up multiple times in the Senate. *Id.* No one expressed any disagreement with this,⁵ and the bill was easily passed through committee. *Id.*

It is apparent from this discussion that the legislature passed RCW 4.96.041 in part to protect government employees from financial ruin. By eliminating the risk to personal finances, local governments could now attract the best pool of applicants, thereby improving services to its citizens.

The Legislature must have had § 1983 in mind when they envisioned a judgment bankrupting a government employee if not indemnified. For most other types of claims against individual employees, the government will also be liable under the doctrine of respondeat superior. With joint and severally liable defendants, a plaintiff is not obligated to pursue collection from the individual employee first. As the government is more likely to have greater resources, most plaintiffs will be likely to pursue the government in collecting their judgment. The risk

⁵ The only question anyone had about the bill was whether it would apply to criminal prosecutions.

of an employee going bankrupt over a judgment for these types of claims is slim. Indeed, before RCW 4.96.041, Washington already permitted government entities to indemnify employees for these types of claims. H.R. Comm. Report on S.S.B. 2411.

Notably, a government entity cannot be held liable under respondent superior for § 1983 claims. Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. Of City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 663 n. 7, 98 S. Ct. 2018, 56 L. Ed. 2d 611 (1978). Thus, any § 1983 judgment is likely to fall on the individual employee alone. Further, § 1983 claims are likely to result in much higher judgments than other types of claims against government employees. There are several reasons for this. First is that § 1983 allows for the award of punitive damages. Davis v. Mason Cnty., 927 F.2d 1473, 1485 (9th Cir. 1991). Second is that a prevailing plaintiff is automatically entitled to all of his attorney's fees and costs incurred in pursuit of his § 1983 claim. 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b). Finally, § 1983 damage awards tend to be high simply due to the nature of injury. A study in New York found that the average damage award against police officers for § 1983 violations was approximately \$50,000 as of 1996. D.K. Chiabi, Abstract, Police Civil Liability: An Analysis of Section 1983 Actions in the Eastern and Southern Districts of New York, 21 Am. J. Crim. L. 83 (1996); available at http://www.ncjrs.gov/App/Publications/abstract.aspx?ID-171185. Adjusted

for inflation, this would be approximately \$77,000 today.⁶ The typical automobile accident does not see damages this high. The most logical explanation for the legislature's repeated articulation of employees being bankrupted by judgments is that they were concerned about § 1983 claims, a relatively new phenomenon at that time.

The prevention of driving away potential employees is not the only justification for indemnification statutes like RCW 4.96.041. As Professor Yudof explained in further detail,

[T]he unavailability of insurance coverage would have a devastating effect on the recruitment of officer and employees for [government entities], and might well lead to the exodus of many already in the [government entities]. If the questions of enforceability of insurance policies for constitutional torts is to turn on public policy concerns, as it should, then the need to deter unconstitutional behavior must be balanced against the public's interest in encouraging able employees and officers to serve in the public sector. ... Even small judgments might bring financial despair, or even bankruptcy, to many[.]

This argument is buttressed by other considerations. [Citizens] who have been denied their constitutional rights may not be able to afford to hire attorneys and pay the cost of litigation if the only available defendants are virtually judgment-proof. In other words, [citizens] may play a private-attorney-general function in vindicating constitutional rights which have been denied them, and the unavailability of insurance might well deter them from playing this role.

Yudof, at p. 1389.

⁶ This amount was calculated using the conversion tool available at http://www.dollartimes.com/inflation/inflation.php?amount=1&year=1996.

The "private attorney general" function described by Professor Yudof is part of § 1983's deterrence goal. The aim of § 1983 is to deter *all* state actors, not just those with deep pockets, from violating the constitutional rights of citizens. Generally speaking, a plaintiff is not likely to pursue complex claims like § 1983 against someone who is judgment-proof. With little risk of suit, judgment-proof government employees may be inclined to act with impunity in disregarding constitutional rights. This is particularly concerning given that police officers, routinely the subject of § 1983 claims, are usually not particularly wealthy individuals.

Section 1983 not only deters individual employees from violating constitutional rights, but also deters the government itself from doing the same. If the government has to indemnify its employees for judgments against them, then the government has the incentive to rigorously train employees on the protection of constitutional rights. With an indemnity policy as narrow as the Court of Appeals construed Douglas County's, the government not only lacks the incentive to train its employees, but now has the opposite incentive to let its employees do as they please,⁷ or worse, encourage its employees to act beyond the scope of their employment so long as the government achieves the desired result.

⁷ A municipality cannot be held liable under § 1983 merely for failing to supervise its employees. Webster v. City of Houston, 689 F.2d 1220, 1226 (5th Cir. 1982).

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