No. 93034-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON COUNTIES RISK POOL, a public entity,

Respondent,

٧.

TAMARA MARIE CORTER, a married individual, STEVE GROSECLOSE, an individual,

Appellants,

and

DOUGLAS COUNTY, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY DOUGLAS COUNTY

Steven M. Clem, WSBA #7466 Douglas County Prosecuting Attorney Douglas County Courthouse P.O. Box 360 Waterville, WA 98858 (509) 745-8535

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

Groseclose never made a request to Douglas County for a defense to the §1983 lawsuit filed by Corter. Douglas County did not provide a defense to Groseclose. Groseclose was defended by separate counsel retained by the Risk Pool. Groseclose was not acting or in good faith purporting to act within the scope of his

official duties as a law enforcement officer when he accessed

Corter's constitutionally protected confidential information for his

personal use in his son's guardianship proceedings.

Based upon these clearly demonstrated facts in the record, the Court of Appeals properly held that Douglas County was not liable for indemnity under RCW 4.96.041 and/or DCC Chapter 2.90 with respect to the Judgment entered against Groseclose, and the Risk Pool contractually liable for indemnify.

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with state or federal case law, and is consistent with the policy considerations underlying 42 U.S.C. §1983.

B. The Application of RCW 4.96.041 and DCC Chapter 2.90

Under RCW 4.96.041, a county employee *may request* the County provide a defense to a lawsuit that is based upon the employee's performance of official duties. The County provides the defense *if the County finds* "the acts or omissions . . . were, or in good faith purported to be, within the scope of his or her official duties."

(1) Whenever an action or proceeding for damages is brought against any past or present officer, employee, or volunteer of a local governmental entity of this state, arising from acts or omissions while performing or in good faith purporting to perform

his or her official duties, such officer, employee, or volunteer may request the local governmental entity to authorize the defense of the action or proceeding at the expense of the local governmental entity.

(2) If the legislative authority of the local governmental entity, or the local governmental entity using a procedure created by ordinance or resolution, finds that the acts or omissions of the officer, employee, or volunteer were, or in good faith purported to be, within the scope of his or her official duties, the request shall be granted. If the request is granted, the necessary expenses of defending the action or proceeding shall be paid by the local governmental entity. Any monetary judgment against the officer, employee, or volunteer shall be paid on approval of the legislative authority of the local governmental entity or by a procedure for approval created by ordinance or resolution.

RCW 4.96.041(1) and (2). (Emphasis added)

Douglas County has implemented RCW 4.96.041 through

Chapter 2.90 of the Douglas County Code:

2.90.020 Request for defense of claim.

An officer, employee or volunteer may request that Douglas County defend and pay the necessary expenses of defending any claim arising from acts or omissions while performing or in good faith purporting to perform his or her official duties. Such request shall be in writing and signed by the person or his or her attorney, shall be filed with the board of county commissioners, and shall include a summary of the claim. If the claim is pending, then a copy of the written claim, demand or lawsuit shall be attached to the request.

2.90.030 Authorizing defense of claim.

- A. Douglas County shall grant the request to defend a claim and pay the necessary expenses of defense upon a determination that the claim is based upon an alleged act or omission of the officer, employee or volunteer which was, or in good faith purported to be, within the scope of his or her official duties. Such determination shall be made as follows:
 - 1. By a majority vote of a quorum of the board of county commissioners consisting of members not named as a party to such claim; or
 - 2. If a quorum of unnamed members of the board is not possible, then by a written opinion of legal counsel, other than the prosecuting attorney, as selected by the board. Such legal counsel shall not be an attorney or member of a law firm who has performed services within the past three years for Douglas County.
- B. Douglas County shall not defend or pay for the expense of defending a claim against an officer, employee or volunteer based upon or which alleges unlawfully obtaining personal benefits while acting in his or her official capacity.
- C. Douglas County shall not pay any expenses of defending a claim which are paid or incurred by an officer, employee or volunteer prior to receipt of a proper written request by the board of county commissioners. Douglas County shall not pay any expenses of defending a claim in advance of services being rendered or costs being incurred.

2.90.050 Payment of nonpunitive monetary judgment.

When Douglas County has defended a claim against an officer, employee or volunteer pursuant to this chapter and the court hearing the action has found that the officer, employee or volunteer was acting within the scope of his or her official duties, Douglas County shall pay any final nonpunitive monetary judgment entered on such claim, after termination of all appellate review, if any. Pursuant to RCW 4.96.041, a judgment creditor shall seek satisfaction for a nonpunitive monetary judgment only from Douglas County and a judgment for nonpunitive damages shall not become a lien upon any property of the officer, employee or volunteer.

(Emphasis added)

Therefore, under RCW 4.96.041(1) and DCC 2.90.020, an employee must (1) request the County to authorize the defense of a lawsuit at the expense of the County, and (2) the County must find the lawsuit is arising from acts or omissions of the employee while performing or in good faith purporting to perform his or her official duties.

Under RCW 4.96.041 and DCC 2.90.050 the County is authorized to pay a final, non-punitive monetary judgment against an employee so long as the lawsuit has been defended pursuant to the statute/ordinance and the court entering the judgment found the employee was acting within the scope of his or her official duties.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is based upon application of RCW 4.96.041 and DCC 2.90.050 to the facts of this case.

C. Acting Under Color of Law is Not Synonymous With Performing Within the Scope of Official Duties

As part of the Verdict issued in the *Corter v. Groseclose* litigation, the jury found that Groseclose acted "under color of law when he accessed the March 30, 2009, law enforcement incident report via Spillman." CP 149. Groseclose and Corter contend that "acting within the scope of his or her official duties" as used in RCW 4.96.041 and DCC Chapter 2.90 is synonymous with "under color of law" under 42 U.S.C. §1983.

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument and held the underlying federal action between Corter and Groseclose did not find that Groseclose was acting within the scope of his official duties. The Court of Appeals examined Washington cases on "scope of employment" and cases interpreting RCW Chapters 4.92 and 4.96.

The Court of Appeals analysis is consistent with §1983 case law. An employee or official acting "within the scope of his or her official duties" is also acting "under color of law." Conversely, an employee *not* acting within the scope of his or her official duties may still be acting "under color of law" and held liable under §1983.

D. The Court of Appeals Decision is not Contrary to Public Policy

Corter and Groseclose contend the decision of the Court of Appeals is contrary to the public policy underlying §1983, by defeating its remedial purposes and deterrent effect. There are four basic arguments presented:

- 1. The Court of Appeals decision "essentially eliminated all insurance coverage for §1983 suits;" 8
- 2. "[M]unicipalities would never be obligated to provide restitution to the citizens whose constitutional rights are violated" under reasoning of the Court of Appeals decision:9
- 3. The Court of Appeals decision eliminates protection of government employees from exposure to personal liability for §1983 suits:10 and
- 4. The Court of Appeals decision eliminates §1983 deterrent effects on municipalities and their incentive to train and supervise employees. 11

As to the first contention, the Court of Appeals decision was based upon the specific language of the Joint Self-Insured Liability Policy issued by the Risk Pool to Douglas County. The language

⁸ Petition for Review, p. 13.

⁹ Petition for Review, p. 14

Petition for Review, pp. 14-18
Petition for Review, pp. 18-19

conditioned employee coverage upon employees acting "within the scope of their official duties for the member county or on its behalf." 12 The Pool's indemnity obligations are contractual and independent of application of §1983. The Court of Appeals decision has no "global" application to risk pools or to insurance companies.

Corter's second contention is lacking any merit. The Court of Appeals did not make a decision regarding Douglas County's liability under §1983. Liability was decided in the underlying federal case. Corter's lawsuit naming the County as an additional defendant could not survive the County's motion for summary judgment. The District Court dismissed the County from the lawsuit, with prejudice. This contention is also inconsistent with Corter's acknowledgement that municipalities are not liable, under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, for their employees' violations of §1983.13

The third contention by Corter is puzzling, since Corter acknowledges the doctrine of respondeat superior is not applicable to suits against municipal employees. Municipal employees acting or purporting to act within the scope of their official duties have protection available through RCW 4.96.041 and local implementing

Slip Opinion, pp. 3, 22Petition for Review, p. 16.

ordinances. Corter fails to cite any legal authority for its proposition that the county has an absolute obligation to indemnify employees for all acts or omissions, regardless of whether such act or omission occurs within the scope of the employee's official duties. Public policy does not support Corter's contention.

Finally, Corter's fourth contention is without merit. The Court of Appeals did not make a decision regarding Douglas County's liability under §1983. Liability was decided in the underlying federal case. Corter alleged in that lawsuit the Douglas County was liable for the acts of Groseclose based upon violations of official policy, longstanding practice or custom, ratification and policy of inaction. The Order granting Douglas County's motion for summary judgment held the Corter presented no evidence of an affirmative, conscious or deliberate choice by Douglas County to ratify Groseclose's improper access of Spillman for personal gain, 14 and that Groseclose's conduct "was not indicative of a deliberately-indifferent training/supervision program by the County, but rather 'rogue conduct' by a County detective." 15

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with and furthers the policies of §1983. The Court of Appeals did not

¹⁴ CP 108, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, II. 19-22

¹⁵ CP 110-111, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, I. 25 – I. 2

eliminate the remedy afforded to Corter under §1983. Corter's judgment against Groseclose for \$60,000, plus \$61,025.50 in attorney's fees and \$1,568.43 in taxable costs, remains intact.

III. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this case. This case does not present any meritorious issues that meet the criteria for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b). The petition for review should be denied.